1980

Lynn A. Jenkins v. Moroni C. Jensen, State of Utah,
Robert B. Hansen, Attorney General of The State of
Utah, David S. Monson, Secretary of State/Lt.
Governor of Utah : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is an action that was brought by the Plaintiff, Lynn A. Jenkins, to remove the name of Defendant, Moroni L. Jensen, from the official 1980 primary election ballot for the following reasons.

1. On January 10, 1977, Defendant Jensen took the oath of office as Senator from the Sixth District, State of Utah, for the period of January 1, 1977 to and including December 31, 1980, and as a member of the Utah State Legislature did vote and pass certain emuloment increases for the office of Utah Secretary of State/Lt. Governor, during his term of office as senator, which precludes him from being

elected to the office of Secretary of State/Lt. Governor, as mandated by the Utah State Constitution, Article VI, Section 7.

2. That the Utah State Legislature during the current term of Senator Moroni L. Jensen did pass a proposed constitutional change in the office of Secretary of State to the Office of Lt. Governor, which change would alter, reform, and create the constitutional executive office of Lt. Governor for the State of Utah, thus prohibiting any member of the Utah State Legislature during their term from being an eligible candidate for that created office, as mandated by the Utah State Constitution, Article VI, Section 7.

3. That Plaintiff Lynn A. Jenkins is a candidate for the office of Utah State Senate, District Eight, and is on the official 1980 primary ballot. At the primary election, the voters are required to select a one-part ballot from which to choose and with Plaintiff Jenkins being with the Republican Party and Defendant Jensen being with the Democratic Party, the Plaintiff would be harmed if the name of Moroni L. Jensen were not removed from said ballot as a qualified candidate.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court granted the defendant's motion to dismiss with prejudice on July 30, 1980, after finding and ruling the following:

1. Plaintiff has standing to bring the present action as a party plaintiff.
2. Plaintiff has not unreasonably delayed the filing and bringing of the present action.

3. Plaintiff's complaint and each cause of action set forth therein do not state a claim for which relief may be granted. In connection therewith, the Court takes judicial notice of and considers the following points:

(a) The claims of plaintiff are governed by a prior Utah Supreme Court decision in the case of Shields v. Toronto, 16 Utah 2d 61, 395 P. 2d 829 (1964), which decision approved as constitutionally permissive under Article 6, Section 7 of the Constitution of the State of Utah the candidacy for the office of Governor and Secretary of State of members of a legislature which legislature had enacted pay increases for the offices for which those members sought election.

(b) The Court judicially notices that in 1964, the time of the Shields v. Toronto decision, the rate of inflation was running somewhere between 3% and 6%.

(c) The Court judicially notices that the current rate of inflation is much greater, being on the order of 13% to 14%.

(d) The Court further judicially notices that the salaries of elected state officials have lagged behind and have not kept current with either the salaries provided to other state employees or with increases in price indices from which inflation rates are derived.

(e) The action of the State Legislature in increasing the salary for the Secretary of State/Lt. Governor appears to be an attempt to maintain that salary with current levels of inflation.

(f) The increase in salary for the Secretary of State/Lt. Governor from \$26,500 to \$33,500 is consistent with and proper according to Shields v. Toronto Supra.

(g) S.J.R. 7 as adopted in 1979, proposed that the constitutional amendment that establishes the office of Lt. Governor as a replacement for the office Secretary of State does not "create" a new office within the meaning of Article 6, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution.

(h) Under Shields v. Toronto, Supra, to deny defendant Moroni L. Jensen a position on The September 9, 1980 primary ballot for the Democratic nomination for Secretary of State/Lt. Governor would be an interference with the democratic process for the election of state officials.

On August 4, 1980, the Honorable Kenneth Rigttrup amended his order of July 30th, 1980, with the following:

1. The findings and rulings as contained in the Order of July 30th, 1980, are hereby supplemented to include the following language:

Since January 1, 1977, the Secretary of State/Lt. Governor has received by legislative enactment two pay increases raising his salary from \$22,000 to \$33,500. During the same period of time, the Secretary of State/Lt. Governor has received increases in Social Security, retirement and similar benefits, which when added to his base salary, represent in total benefits paid an increase in the same period from \$25,956 to \$41,333. These increases were not the result of specific legislative enactment.

2. In all other respects, the motion to amend is hereby denied and the Court reaffirms its prior rulings and Order of July 30, 1980.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the trial court's decision of July 30th, 1980, as to item no. 3, points (a) thru (h) and August 4, 1980, items no. 1, 2 and further appeals the Court to grant the relief prayed for in the Complaint as follows:

1. That if "REVISION OF EXECUTIVE ARTICLE" resolution 1979 General Session of the Utah State Legislature also known as S.J.R. No. 7-1979, is passed by the Utah State Electorate in the 1980 General Election, that the intent of the Utah Legislature is to create the constitutional office of Lt. Governor for Utah, effective January 1, 1981.

2. That Moroni L. Jensen is a duly seated member of the Utah State Senate and as a member of that legislative office is denied the right to be a candidate for Secretary of State/Lt. Governor, State of Utah until after December 31, 1980, as mandated by the Utah State Constitution, Article VI, Sec. 7, for the reason of the increase of emoluments and the possible creation of the constitutional office of Utah State Lt. Governor.

3. That the Secretary of State, David S. Monson, be restrained from issuing a certificate for primary election in the name of Moroni L. Jensen on the Democratic ballot as required by 20-3-17, U.C.A.

4. That Moroni L. Jensen's Declaration of Candidacy for Lt. Governor/Secretary of State, filed in the office of David S. Monson, Secretary of State/Lt. Governor be null and void by reason of the constitutional taint imposed by U.S.C. Art. VI, Sec.7.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Defendant Moroni L. Jensen is a member of the Utah State Senate with the term of elected office being January 1, 1977, to and including December 31, 1980. Exhibit No. 1, p. 1-2.

2. March 8, 1979, the Utah State Legislature passed S.J.R. No. 7 titled "Revision of Executive Article," which provides for the creation of the constitutional office of Lt. Governor and deleting the office of Secretary of State, if ratified by the Utah electorate in the General Election of 1980. Exhibit No. 2, p. 1-7.

3. January 1, 1977, the salary without benefits for the office of Utah Secretary of State/Lt. Governor was \$22,000. Exhibit No. 3, p. 1-3. Exhibit No. 3, p. 1-3.

4. The 1977 General Session, Utah State Legislature, approved a salary plus benefits increase for the office of Secretary of State/Lt. Governor to \$26,500 effective May 10, 1977, an increase of 20.45%. Exhibit No. 4, p. 1-6.

5. The 1980 Budget Session, Utah State Legislature, increased the salary of the Secretary of State/Lt. Governor to \$33,500, effective January 1, 1981, a percentage increase of 26.42%. Exhibit No. 5.

6. At the beginning of Senator Moroni L. Jensen's

latest term of office that salary without benefits of the Secretary of State/Lt. Governor has increased from \$22,000 to \$33,500, a gain of 52.27%. Exhibit No. 6.

7. At the beginning of Senator Jensen's term of office, the total salary expense of the Secretary of State to the State of Utah was \$25,956, and that during his four-year term as Senator, the total salary expense has increased to \$41,333 or 59.24%. Exhibit No. 7.

8. If defendant Jensen were elected to the office of Lt. Governor/Secretary of State, the emolument increases enacted by the Utah State Legislature during his present four-year term of office would benefit him personally \$61,508.

9. The cost of living index increased:

1977	--	6.45%
1978	--	7.66%
1979	--	11.26%
1980	--	*14.2 % estimated

TOTAL 39.57% or 9.89 % per annum estimated.

* Source - Frank K. Stuart affidavit. Exhibit 8 p. 1-2.

10. July 12th, 1980, Defendant Jensen became an official Democratic Party Candidate for Lt. Governor/Secretary of State on the 1980 Primary Election Ballot.

11. June 23rd, 1980, Plaintiff Jenkins became an official candidate on the Republican Party primary ballot for the Utah State Senate District Eight.

12. The 1980 Primary Election is to be held September 9th, 1980.

13. August 5th, 1980, Defendant David S. Monson certified the name of Moroni L. Jensen as an official candidate of the Democratic Party for the 1980 Primary election.

14. Defendant Jensen is campaigning for the passage of the "Revision of Executive Article" S.J.R. No. 7, as part of his quest to be elected to the office of Lt. Governor. Exhibit No. 9, p. 1-2.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

In Shields v. Toronto, 16 Utah 2d 61, 395 P. 2d 829 (1964), the Utah Supreme Court did not argue in its decision that an increase of one executive office salary would make a legislator ineligible to run for that office as mandated by Article VI, Section 7, Utah Constitution.

(Ineligibility of member to office created at term for which elected.)

"No member of the Legislature during the term for which he was elected, shall be appointed or elected to any civil office of profit under this State, which shall have been created, or the emoluments of which shall have been increased during the term for which he was elected."

Shields v. Toronto decision discussed very clearly that if the primary interest of the legislation was other than an emolument increase, then the motive of the enactment of the salary increase was secondary in nature and the real intent of Article VI, Section 7, was not applicable.

"The important fact here is that the salary increases involved could not by any stretch of the imagination be regarded as partaking of the impropriety just referred to. There are two

significant points which emphasize the correctness of this conclusion. In the first place, the raises given were not directed toward the creation of, nor to the increase of emoluments of any particular office, but were part of a general salary overhead covering 74 executive officers and judges of the state. . . . The 1963 Act referred to was not primarily a salary increase bill, but its main purpose was to repeal all of the separate acts and to consolidate in one act the salaries of all of those officers in order to classify and bring about some uniformity and correlation among them. And second, the comparatively small increases amounting to about 5% of the remuneration of the offices in question were merely incidental to the main purpose. Shields v. Toronto at 831, underlining emphasis added.

In exhibits 4, p. 1-6, S.B. No. 175-1977, and 5, H.B. No. 60-1980, the salary increases for the Secretary of State were clearly the intent of the legislature and were in such amounts that increases were done on a one-to-one basis, and not across the board as mandated by Shields v. Toronto. Further, S.B. No. 175-1977 provided for a 14.29% increase for the Governor, 20% increase for Attorney General, 20.45 % increase Secretary of State, 26.19% increase Auditor and Treasurer, and between 1 and 3 level changes for appointed officers of the State. H.B. No. 60-1980 removed Judges from the salary increase of 1980 and provided for 0% increase for Judges, 20% increase for Governor, 21.67% increase for Attorney General and 26.42% increase for Secretary of State, Auditor, and Treasurer. Then the 1980 Legislature denied the presently elected executive officers from receiving the pay raise until January 1, 1981. This machination thus increases the need of prohibition of Article VI, Section 7, by increasing the term of the legislators office to that date. The Utah Supreme Court ruled in State, ex rel, Jugler v. Grover et al., 102 U. 41, 125 p. 2d 809:

"The weight of authority is that where there exists a constitutional provision such as we are now considering, that a term of office fixed by statute runs not only for the period fixed, but for an additional period between the date fixed for its termination and the date at which a successor shall be qualified to take the office, the period between the expiration of the term fixed by statute and the time at which a successor shall be qualified to take the office is as much a part of the incumbent's term as the fixed statutory period. . . ."

In the Utah Constitution, Article VII, Section 1, the term of office for the Secretary of State commences on the 1st Monday of 1981. This being the 5th day of January, and if Defendant Jensen were elected, he then directly jumps from the office of Utah State Senator to Lt. Governor/Secretary of State. The Supreme Court recognized this jumping and pointed out in State v. Grover the reason the people of the state needed protection from the legislature.

"The above provision of the Constitution was enacted to prevent members of the Legislative branch of the government from occupying a dual position and to prohibit members of the Legislature from deriving directly or indirectly any pecuniary benefit of the legislative enactments or appropriations made by them. . . This act was to prevent and prohibit members of the Legislature, after making appropriations for the other departments. . . from accepting employment from that branch of the government, and receive a pecuniary benefit from the money they appropriated."

"The language of the Constitution is plain. Its meaning cannot be mistaken. The purpose of the provision is apparent. It is intended to preclude the possibility of any member deriving, directly or indirectly, any pecuniary profit from legislation enacted by the legislature of which he is a member. It is one of the most important of many reforms attempted by the framers of one organic law. It is intended to remove any suspicion which might otherwise attach to the motives of members who advocate the creation of new offices or the expenditure of public funds." (underlining added)

"The reason for excluding persons from office, who have been concerned in creating them, or increasing their emoluments, are to take away as far as possible, any improper bias in the vote of the representative, and to secure to the constituents some solemn pledge of his disinterestedness."

"The respondent participates in the legislation of which he, while his then senatorial term of office is not at an end, has become its beneficiary in the office created and in its substantial emoluments. Thus, the appeal at bar is a real illustration of what the clause was designed to prevent."

The salary increases of the 1977 and 1980 Utah Legislature are just what their intended purpose was to increase the emoluments directly and indirectly for the office of Secretary of State.

POINT II

The trial court judicially noticed that,

"...in 1964, the time of the Shields v. Toronto decision, the rate of inflation was running somewhere between 3% and 6%."

The facts as presented by exhibit No. 8, p. 1-2, clarify and correctly show the cost of living index for the State of Utah since statehood. Exhibit No. 6 indicates the total salary increase for the Secretary of State. In retrospect, the cost of living increased:

<u>YEAR</u>	<u>COST OF LIVING</u>	<u>SEC. OF STATE SALARY</u>	<u>YEARS</u>	<u>SALARY INCREASE</u>
1961	1.01%	\$10,500	4	10.53%
1962	1.12%	10,500	1	0 %
1963	1.21%	11,500	2	4.76%
1964	1.31%	11,500	1	0 %
1965	1.72%	13,000	2	13.04%

The Court erroneously assumed that Shields v. Toronto dealt with a cost of living factor of under 6%. This factor should have been no greater than 1.31%. The Supreme Court in Shields v. Toronto was very careful not to allow any future interpretation of that opinion to be attached as a mandated cost of living increase or that anything greater than 5% in a two-year period of time would ever be acceptable.

"The Secretary of State was raised from \$10,500 to \$11,000. While the raise for the governor was somewhat more, from \$13,200 to \$15,000, (13.64%) when the furnished residence, maintenance and other prerequisites of the office are considered, the raise was just about the same percentage-wise." (Underlining and 13.64% added for emphasis).

The Court then relented carefully not to mislead legislators in the future by requiring guidelines for salary increases which would prohibit them under Article VI, Section 7 from seeking higher office for profit during their term of office.

"These relatively small increases, of that character, should properly be regarded as just what they were, moderate cost of living adjustments on an across-the-board basis in keeping with the steadily rising costs of living. Accordingly, it can be said with assurance that this is not a situation which would lend itself to any ulterior scheme by a legislator to set up a high paying sinecure to take advantage of which Section 7 of Article VI was designed to prevent. Nor is there any reasonable likelihood that such raises would have induced any to run for the offices in question who would not otherwise have done so. . . no contention has been made that there was any actual impropriety or ulterior purpose whatsoever in the conduct of these candidates. . . Months before this suit was filed, they had announced their candidacies for office. (Underlining emphasis added)

The Plaintiff in his pleading maintains that Defendant Jensen has not met the restrictions imposed by the Utah Supreme

Court and that in fact the "moderate cost of living adjustments" given in 1963 was in proper range with the growth of the private and public sector of the State's economic growth. The 1977 and 1980 salary increases however do not reflect Utah's economic growth but reflect emolument increases far greater than the private individual income levels. To determine income levels by inflation alone would mean robbery from the public treasury by the public bureaucrats who thrive upon greater taxes from government created inflation. Also, the legislature refused to give an "across-the-board increase," and it would be inaccurate to say that \$61,508 increase for one term of office would not have "induced any to run for the office." Defendant Jensen's "ulterior purpose" can only be answered by him, but the record before the public and this Court can be scrutinized to reveal "impropriety" from his campaign literature, exhibit 9, p. 1-2:

(a) As a long term public educator, he has retired from the public trust with a pension he now receives.

(b) A member of the Utah Legislature for 16 years, he will retire from that branch of government with a pension.

(c) If elected to the office of Secretary of State, he will receive a pension from that office.

(d) He campaigns for creation of the Constitutional office of Lt. Governor.

(e) (He)"assisted in making the Utah State retirement system one of the best in the Country."

In Shields v. Toronto, the 1963 salary increase was enacted March 1963 and the candidates had filed for office in April 1964, but in the issue before the bar Defendant Jensen filed for office in April 1980 and the 1980 Legislature enacted the salary increase February 1980; thus the period of public scrutiny was greatly reduced for public reaction.

POINT III

State employees' salaries in comparison to elected officials' salaries however out of scale should not be proper for the Courts judicial review. The power of the legislature to enact salaries must remain with them or the separation of power's doctrine is polluted and a constitutional prerogative of the legislature is interfered with. Utah Constitution Article V, Section 1.

"The powers of the government of the State of Utah shall be divided into three distinct departments, the Legislature, the Executive, and the Judicial; and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments shall exercise any functions appertaining to either of the other, except in the cases herein expressly directed or permitted."

Comparisons of wages, taxes, benefits, inflation, cost of living index, etc., are mainly a function of the electorate and if they perceive a great concern, they voice their opinion to their representatives, and if their representatives fail to respond then the rascal can be thrown out by the voters. No individual is forced or compelled to work for less. If an elected official feels his or her salary is not sufficient and the people are not willing to give more, then the official is free to choose other service or employment.

POINT IV

To expand Points I, II, III, in relationship to the State Legislature "attempt to maintain that salary (Secretary of State/Lt. Governor) with current levels of inflation" the

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