1980

Lynn A. Jenkins v. Moroni C. Jensen, State of Utah,
Robert B. Hansen, Attorney General of The State of
Utah, David S. Monson, Secretary of State/Lt.
Governor of Utah : Brief of Respondent Moroni L.
Jensen

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT CONFORMED WITH THIS COURT'S RULING IN SHIELDS v. TORONTO.

In 1964 this Court held that three candidates for executive office were not disqualified from appearing on primary ballots even though they had been members of the 1963 Legislature which had enacted a general salary increase raising the emoluments of the offices they sought. The Court specifically held that their candidacy did not violate the provisions of Article VI Section 7 of the Utah Constitution. Shields v. Toronto,

16 Utah 2d 61, 395 P.2d 829 (1964).

Justice Crockett's comprehensive opinion considers the purpose and rationale of Article VI. The opinion states that the Article was not designed to prohibit legislators from running for office simply because they are members of a body which had voted a pay increase for that office. Rather, the purpose of the provision is to prevent connivance and manipulation among legislators to benefit themselves by creating offices or by voting themselves pay increases with the clear purpose of improperly enriching themselves.

When, however, the increases do not enrich the office holder, but merely keeps him approximately even with inflation, the mischief the provision is meant to prevent would not occur. As the opinion states:

"The important fact here is that the salary increases involved could not by any stretch of the imagination be regarded as partaking of the impropriety just referred to . . . [T]hese relatively small increases . . . should properly be regarded as just what they were, a moderate cost of living adjustment on an across the board basis in keeping with the steadily rising cost of living. Accordingly, it can be said with assurance that this is not a situation which would lend itself to any ulterior scheme by a legislator to set up a high paying sinecure to take advantage of which Section 7 of Article VI was designed to prevent." 395 P.2d at 831.

The pay increases at issue in this appeal are precisely of the kind approved in Toronto.

First, there is no suggestion, either in plaintiff's

pleadings or in the record before the District Court, that there was any improper motivation, manipulation, or attempt to benefit Mr. Jensen or any member of the legislature.

Second, the pay increases were enacted as part of legislative bills granting pay increases to other constitutional officers of the State. The Governor, the Attorney General, the State Auditor and the State Treasurer, all received similar, though not exactly equal, percentage increases (all in the 20 to 30 percent range).

Third, and most significantly, the record before the District Court was abundantly clear that the increases in question reflected a legislative attempt to maintain the salary level of the Secretary of State during a time of accelerating and severe inflation. Indeed, the record demonstrates that the real salary of the Secretary of State has been increased by only a fraction of a percent during the last ten years.

In support of his motion to dismiss, respondent submitted an affidavit (R.) prepared by Mr. Frank K. Stuart, an economic analyst and consultant. Attached to Mr. Stuart's affidavit, as Exhibit 1, was a table showing the effect of inflation on all pay increases granted to the Secretary of State since May of 1963 (R.). Mr. Stuart's analysis is most revealing. During Mr. Jensen's last term in the legislature, the dollar increase

at the Secretary of State's salary was from \$22,000 to \$33,500. During the same period, the adjusted real income increased only from \$17,178 to \$17,761 for a total of \$583.00.¹

Mr. Stuart determined that since 1973, the Secretary of State has, in real dollar terms, had a decrease in his salary. In January of 1972, the salary had a real dollar value of \$19,239; as of January of 1981, the value will be \$17,761.

Mr. Stuart's analysis also somewhat understates the actual amount of this salary decrease. The Secretary of State has no assurance as to when, if ever, his salary will again be increased. Thus, in a time of persistent inflation, his fixed salary will decrease in real dollar value.

Mr. Stuart also made a long term analysis of the effect of inflation on the Secretary of State's salary. The period covered was May, 1963 through January, 1981. This analysis showed that between 1963 and 1969, there was an increase in the salary's real dollar value.

¹ The analysis was made by using statistical indicators developed by the U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Economic Analysis. These indicators are published in the Department's Survey of Current Business. The effect of inflation is determined by using what is termed an "implicit price deflator index." 1972 dollars are shown by the index as having a value of 100. For years prior to 1972, when the value of the dollar was greater, the index is less than 100. For succeeding years the value is more than 100. Thus, in 1975, the deflator index was 128.07. The estimate for the deflator index for January of 1981 is 188.62. The difference in deflator index values will, of course, determine the actual percentage decrease in the value of the salary.

With the sharply rising inflation of the late 1960's, the real value of the Secretary of State's salary began to erode. Since that time, the overall trend has shown a decrease in salary value. For the entire eighteen year period between 1963 and 1981, the salary has shown a slight rate of real dollar increase. The Secretary of State experienced an actual dollar increase in salary from \$11,000 to \$33,500. This amounted to 204.5% increase which computes to an annual rate of 6.3%. Over the same eighteen year period the real dollar salary increased from \$15,413 to \$17,761, or a percentage increase of 15.2%. The average annual increase was only .8%.

At the hearing on the motion to reconsider, respondent submitted an affidavit of Steven J. Nicolatus. Mr. Nicolatus is a consulting economist employed by Mr. Stuart. Mr. Nicolatus compared the Secretary of State's salary increases with those given to professional level State employees. His analysis showed that the Secretary of State, between 1970 and 1981, enjoyed an annual growth rate in compensation of 6.1%. A professional employee at entry salary level had for the same period a 6.9% salary growth rate. Mr. Nicolatus also considered merit pay increases to which professional level employees would be entitled. When the increases are included, the typical professional level employee experienced an annual increase of 9%, or some fifty percent more than the rate of increase for the Secretary of State.

Mr. Nicolatus also analyzed the increase of the total compensation package paid to the Secretary of State. Included among these benefit items are F.I.C.A., federal withholding tax, insurance and the state retirement plan. Between 1977 and 1981, this total benefit package increased from \$29,558 to \$41,333, for a percentage increase of 39.8%. In real dollar terms, however, the entire benefit package increased from only \$20,860 to \$21,913. This is a percentage increase of only 5%, which yields an average annual growth rate of 1.2%.

The interesting point about this analysis is that these benefit items were not the result of specific legislative enactment. Federal withholding tax, F.I.C.A., insurance, and the state retirement plan were granted by either federal law or general legislative enactment. Nonetheless, the average rate of increase in real dollars during the period was very small indeed.

This economic data demonstrated that the pay increases in issue in this litigation in an amount and for a purpose consistent with the rule and rationale of Shields v. Toronto. Supra. Enacted in a time of persistent and often accelerating inflation, these increases reflect a legislative attempt to maintain the purchasing power of the Secretary of State's salary. Indeed, one could make a very strong case from the data presented to the District Court that the actual value of the salary has decreased during the period of Mr. Jensen's legislative term.

II. SENATE JOINT RESOLUTION NO. 7 DID NOT "CREATE"
A CIVIL OFFICE.

In point 5 of his otherwise generally commendable brief, plaintiff argues that Senate Joint Resolution No. 7 "is a creation of a new constitutional office." In fact, the 1979 legislature did nothing but place before the voters of Utah a proposal to modify certain aspects of the Executive Article of the Utah Constitution. As mentioned above, one of these modifications would change the name of the office of Secretary of State, wherever it appears in the Constitution, to "Lieutenant Governor" and would change the method of voting for this office. These modifications, even if they do amount to a "creation of office," are not the creation of the legislature. If they ever become effective, they will be the creation of the electorate of the State of Utah. Of course, no one has "created" anything yet. No one will know whether the so-called "created office" will come into existence at all until November, 1980.

A legislative act placing before the voters the decision of whether a new administrative or executive office will be formed does not constitute "creation" of office as contemplated by Article VI Section 7. State v. Gooding, 22 Idaho 128, 124 P. 791 (1912), is almost directly on point. There an appointment to the office of Commissioner of Highways was challenged because the appointee was a member of the legislature that authorized the voters and landowners of Idaho to organize a

highway district upon certain terms and conditions. The Idaho Supreme Court held that this was not the creation of an office. The Idaho Supreme Court said:

"The word 'create' means to cause to exist or to bring into existence something which did not exist. Said highway district law does not create or purport to create any highway district, but leaves the creation of such districts with the people. Then the question is directly presented: Did the Legislature create the office of highway commissioner of Shoshone highway district No. 2?

"At the time the Legislature which enacted said highway district law adjourned, there was no office of highway commissioner of Shoshone highway district No. 2, nor was there such an office in the state of Idaho. Said act authorized the electors and landowners in the state to organize a highway district upon certain terms and conditions, if they concluded best to do so.

"Had the act in question organized certain highway districts and provided that such district should have certain officers, then the Legislature would have created the office. But the Legislature by said act did not attempt to create any districts whatever. They left the creation of the district with the people. . . ." 124 P. 792-93.

The Gooding opinion is almost exactly analogous with the Utah Legislature's actions in S.J.R. No. 7. The Legislature has done no more than propose to the people of Utah that certain items of the Executive Article of the Utah Constitution be revised. These revisions will not take effect until the general election of November, 1980. If any office has been created, it will not have been created until then and it will not have been created by the Legislature, but by the vote of the people.

In fact, S.J.R. No. 7 does not create a new office at: It merely changes the name of an old office and modifies the method by which votes are cast for that office. In Westernport v. Green, 144 Md. 85, 124 A. 403 (1923), the Maryland General Assembly enacted a statute which, in effect, changed the method of electing a town clerk and made the clerk responsible for collecting municipal taxes (a duty that had previously been performed by a bailiff). The Maryland court held that in changing the duties of the clerk and in changing the method by which he was elected, the Maryland Legislature had not created a new office but merely modified the form and duties of an old one.

Nothing has been changed in the office of Secretary of State except its name and the method by which votes are cast for the office. No new office has been created.

III. THE RESULT URGED HERE IS CONSISTENT WITH JUDICIAL AUTHORITY FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

Courts of other jurisdictions have construed constitutional provisions similar to Article VI Section 7, to permit the candidacy for public office of otherwise qualified candidates. Though challenges to candidacy have arisen in a variety of factual settings and under differing constitutional provisions, the courts repeatedly have found in the spirit and purpose of such provisions strong reasons for permitting candidates to be either approved or rejected by the electoral process.

Prominent among these decisions is the Florida case of State ex rel. West v. Gray, 74 So.2d 114 (Fla. 1954), where a special election was necessary because of the death of the governor during his term of office. A member of the state legislature who had voted to increase the governor's salary declared his candidacy for the office. In construing the Florida constitutional provision in issue, the Court reviewed the history and purpose of that provision.

The Court first noted that:

The Constitution is concerned with substance and not with form and its framers did not intend to forbid a common sense of application of its provisions.

Gray, supra, 7450 2d at 118. It also explained that:

All of the authorities are in agreement that such a provision as is involved in this proceeding is inserted in a constitution for the purpose of taking from a senator or representative "any personal motive which might operate upon him to create a new office or increase the emoluments of any office, new or old." Tucker on the Constitution, Vol. 1, p. 442. As the matter is stated by Mr. Justice Story, "The reasons for excluding persons from offices who have been concerned in creating them, or increasing their emoluments, are to take away, as far as possible, any improper bias in the vote of the representative, and to secure to the constituents some solemn pledge of his disinterestedness." Story on the Constitution, 5th Ed., Vol. I, section 867, p. 633. (Emphasis in original).

The Court then considered changes in "public conditions" since the enactment of the constitutional provision in question.

Public conditions are vastly different today. Many of the offices which were appointive under the original Constitution of 1885 have now, by amendment thereto, been made elective. With the free dissemination of news and the close coverage given the legislative deliberations by press and radio, the people are much better informed concerning the actions of their legislators than they were in 1885, and they can express their approval or disapproval of such actions at the polls. We have no doubt that, as to elective offices, Section 5 of Article III was calculated to, and did, serve a useful purpose in the early days of this state's history; indeed, it still does, within the reasonable limits and for the plain purposes for which it was enacted. But what was then thought to be a shield can, if so strictly interpreted as to enlarge it beyond its purpose, become a sword -- a weapon which might easily eliminate capable men from offering for public office . . .

Gray, supra, 7450 2d at 117.

Since the pay increase for which the prospective candidate had voted as a legislator applied only to the term of the governor then in office, and since the governor's untimely death could not have been anticipated, the Court reasoned that there was no real possibility that the candidate had been influenced by improper motives when he voted on the matter as a legislator. Since the evil which the provision was designed to prevent did not occur, the provision did not prohibit the legislator's candidacy.

The Court also emphasized that the legislator would be required to run against formidable opponents in both the primary and general elections when his candidacy would be

submitted to the electorate. For those reasons, the Florida Court concluded that the emoluments of the office of governor were not increased by the legislature so as to render a legislator ineligible for the office.

In State v. Dubuque, 413 P.2d 972 (Wash 1966), the Supreme Court of Washington resolved a challenge to the eligibility of members of the state legislature to run for re-election after their members had voted to increase their own salaries. Washington's constitutional provision is virtually identical to that which is in issue here, and it was contended that since members of the legislature had voted to increase the emoluments of the office of legislator, they could not, during their term of office, run for re-election to that office.

In construing the section, the court noted that:

A strong public policy exists in favor of eligibility for public office, and the constitution, where the language and context allows, should be construed so as to preserve this eligibility.

Dubuque, supra, 413 P.2d at 981. The court proceeded to explain that the constitutional provision was designed, in part, to:

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